A. INTRODUCTION

The due process right to an unbiased tribunal required the trial court to

recuse itself when it recognized it had a longtime close relationship with

Cole Rife' s family. Even though the trial court tried to act without bias, its

comments at sentencing betray this was not possible. The failure to recuse

itself violated Washington' s appearance of fairness test for judicial recusal

and resulted in an unfair trial for Mr. Rife. This Court should remand this

matter for a new trial. 

This Court cannot be confident the trial court exercised its discretion

appropriately. Whether it was because the court was trying to be fair to

both sides by being more critical of Mr. Rife' s requests or for some other

reason, the trial court erred when it allowed the State to add new charges

on the eve of trial, forcing Mr. Rife to choose between prepared counsel

and his right to a speedy trial; when it ruled against Mr. Rife' s motion to

dismiss the attempted burglary in the first degree charge; when it allowed

the State to commit misconduct; and when it failed to instruct the jury

upon Mr. Rife' s defense. These errors require a new trial. 

This Court can also not be sure the trial judge' s refusal to exercise

discretion at sentencing was the result of a result of the court' s attempt to

be fair to the State because of his relationship with Mr. Rife' s family or
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the result of a misunderstanding of the law. Either way, the court' s failure

to exercise discretion was error which requires a new sentencing hearing. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court violated the appearance of fairness doctrine by failing to

recuse itself when it disclosed a long time familiar relationship with Mr. 

Rife' s family. 

2. The late amendment of the information deprived Mr. Rife of due

process in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

3. The court violated Mr. Rife' s Sixth Amendment right to be present

during when challenges to jurors was made in a bench conference. 

4. Mr. Rife' s right to a public trial under Article I, section 10 and the

Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment was denied when challenges to the jury

pool were made in a confidential bench conference. 

5. In the absence of sufficient evidence, Mr. Rife' s conviction of

attempted burglary in the first degree deprived him of due process in

violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

6. The State' s misconduct deprived Mr. Rife of his right to a fair trial

under the Fourteenth Amendment. 

7. Defense counsel' s deficient perfonnance deprived Mr. Rife of his

Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. 
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8. The court deprived Mr. Rife of due process in violation of the

Fourteenth Amendment by providing improper instructions on self - 

defense. 

9. The court erred in refusing to exercise discretion by failing to

consider a sentence below the standard range. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Basic due process requires a case be tried before a fair tribunal. 

Washington' s appearance of fairness doctrine requires the court to appear

to be impartial. It applies regardless of whether a motion to disqualify is

filed. Was Mr. Rife unfairly prejudiced by the decision of the court to not

recuse itself after acknowledging the close relationship it had with Mr. 

Rife' s family? 

2. Where an amendment of an infoiuuation prejudices a defendant' s

substantial rights, the court may reject the amendment. In order to

establish grounds for dismissal, a defendant must establish arbitrary action

or governmental mismanagement by the State and prejudice affecting the

right to a fair trial. Was Mr. Rife unfairly prejudiced where the State

moved to amend the information adding new facts which defense counsel

was unable to investigate prior to trial? 

3. No defendant should be forced to choose between the right to a

speedy trial and the right to counsel prepared for trial. Where the State

3



amends the information adding new charges at the end of the speedy trial

period which require additional investigation by defense counsel, the

defendant is forced to choose between speedy trial rights and the right to

competent counsel. Where defense counsel asks the court to sever the

charges so the defendant is not prejudiced, it is error to refuse to sever the

charges. Should the court have granted Mr. Rife' s motion to sever the new

charge so he could receive effective assistance of counsel? 

4. An accused person has the right to be present at all critical stages

of a proceeding. Was Mr. Rife' s right to be present violated when the

court heard peremptory challenges in a bench conference where he was

not present? 

S. The United States and Washington Constitution guarantee a right

to a public trial. This right requires proceedings be held in open court

unless the court makes specific findings to support closure. Did the court

commit structural error when it heard peremptory challenges in a bench

conference without making findings to support closure? 

6. When no rational trier of fact could have found the State has

proven all the essential elements of an offense, the court must dismiss the

charged offense. Intending to commit a crime within a building is an

essential element of attempted burglary in the first degree. It is insufficient

to establish the person intended to commit a crime at a location outside a

4



building or was within the building unlawfully. Where the State provides

insufficient evidence of intent to commit a crime within a building, should

the court find insufficient evidence of attempted burglary in the first

degree? 

7. As a quasi - judicial officer, a prosecutor has a duty to act

impartially and only in the interest of justice. It is misconduct for a

prosecutor to ask a witness whether another witness is telling the truth, to

comment in front of the jury upon punishment in order to mislead the jury

as to the actual punishment the defendant is facing, and to improperly

vouch for a witness by implying the defendant should have pled guilty like

the co- operating co- defendant. Where the individual instances of

misconduct and their cumulative effect impacted the integrity of the jury' s

verdict, should this Court order a new trial? 

8. Where counsel' s conduct so undermines the proper functioning of

the adversarial process the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced

a just result, the court should find ineffective assistance of counsel and

order a new trial. Ineffective assistance occurs where no conceivable

legitimate tactic can explain counsel' s performance and the result of the

proceedings would have been different but for counsel' s deficient

performance. Should a new trial be ordered because defense counsel failed

5



to object when the State vouched for the testimony of a witness and

denigrated the decision of Mr. Rife to plead not guilty? 

9. Jury instructions on self - defense must make the relevant legal

standard manifestly apparent to the average juror. Misstating the law of

self - defense amounts to constitutional error and is presumed prejudicial. 

Defendants are entitled to instructions supporting their theory of the case. 

Did the court commit reversible error when it refused to instruct the jury

on the lawful use of force, actual danger and the duty to retreat, instead

instructing the jury on the justifiable homicide defense of necessity? 

10. While no defendant is entitled to a sentence below the standard

range established by the Sentencing Reform Act, every defendant is

entitled to ask the court to consider such a sentence and to have the

alternative actually considered. Trial judges abuses their discretion when

they categorically refuses to impose a sentence below the standard range. 

Where the trial court refused to consider a sentence below the standard

range because the judge declared he was constrained to only sentence

within or above the standard range, did the court so abuse its discretion as

to entitle Mr. Rife to a new sentencing hearing? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cole Rife was convicted of assault in the second degree and burglary

in the first degree for conduct occurring in the front yard of 512 E. Maple

6



Street, Centralia, Washington. CP 65- 69. 1A number of students who

played baseball for Centralia College were holding a party when Mr. Rife

and a number of his friends arrived to pick up one of their girlfriends. 1

RP 62. They went into the building and then left when asked to do so by

people in the house. 1 RP 89. No illegal conduct was alleged while Mr. 

Rife or others were inside the building. Id. 

After Mr. Rife went back outside the building he began having words

with Connor Atchinson, one of the people at the party. 1 RP 136. Mr. 

Atchinson alleged Mr. Rife said to him " Come outside and fight me." 1

RP 136. A fight then broke out between Mr. Rife and Logan Crump, 

which left Mr. Crump with a broken jaw and tooth. 1 RP 69. When the

police arrived, Mr. Crump stated the fight was a misunderstanding. 1 RP

83. 1- le did not ask the State to press charges until he discovered the extent

of his injuries. 1 RP 83 -84. The probable cause statement alleged Mr. Rife

contacted Mr. Crump by telephone after the fight and before he had been

charged and had told Mr. Crump he was sorry for the fight, offering to

The verbatim report of proceedings contains six volumes. Three volumes are

consecutively paginated. These volumes will be referred to by the volume on their cover
page. Volume 4 refers to hearings which occurred on July 17, 2014 ( Trial Confirmation) 
and August 27, 2014 ( Sentence hearing). Volume 5 refers to July 21, 2014 (Voir Dire). 
Volume 6 refers to July 21, 2014 ( Opening Statements). References to Volume 4 -6 will
be listed by date of proceedings rather than volume number, i.e., 7/ 21/ 2014. 
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help pay for his injuries. CP 3 -4. It was later alleged he also asked Mr. 

Crump not to get the police involved. 1 RP 73. 

Mr. Rife was charged with assault in the second degree on April 15, 

2014. CP 3 -4. The information was later amended to add a co- defendant, 

Tyler Burk, and a charge of attempted burglary in the first degree. CP 9- 

11. With speedy trial expiring and with the case being assigned for trial, 

the State amended the information to add witness tampering. 1 RP 6. The

prosecutor said " frankly the state just became aware of' the new charges

because it had not interviewed its witness until the week of trial. 1 RP 8. 

Mr. Rife objected to the late amendment and requested the new charge be

severed from the original offenses, informing the court he had not had

time to investigate or prepare for the additional charges. 1 RP 9. Finding

the evidence is identical," the court denied the motion to sever. 1 RP 9. 

When Mr. Rife' s case was assigned to a trial judge, the court informed

the parties it had a long time familiar relationship with Mr. Rife' s family. 

1 RP 18 - 19. The trial judge stated he had vacationed with Mr. Rife' s

grandparents, presided over the wedding of his parents and had his hair cut

by Mr. Rife' s aunt. Id. Neither party objected to the court remaining on the

case. 1 RP 19, 22. The court expressed the mistake it had made in

remaining on the case at sentencing, stating " had 1 any alternative other
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than to be the judge presiding over this case, I would not have chosen to

do it." 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18. 

At trial, Mr. Burk had become a cooperating witness. In questioning

Mr. Burk, the State asked whether he had pled guilty on the advice of

counsel. 3 RP 405 -06. These questions were repeated by defense counsel

during cross- examination. This argument was the first one made by the

State during rebuttal. 3 RP 474 Defense counsel did not object when the

State made this argument. Id. When being cross examined on his

cooperation, Mr. Burk was asked whether he was facing years in prison. 

The State interrupted the proceedings and declared before the jury " that' s

not what is a possibility in a crime like this," misrepresenting the

maximum sentence he faced, along with his standard range under the

SRA. 1 RP 98. 

Mr. Rife moved to dismiss attempted burglary in the first degree when

the State rested. 2 RP 218. Mr. Rife then presented a defense case, 

including the testimony of his brother, Bo Rife. In the first question to Bo

Rife, the State asked him to compare his testimony to others, asking him

Are you sure you were at 512 Maple? You seem to have seen something

that no one else saw." 2 RP 233. 

Mr. Rife alleged he had acted in self - defense. He asked the court to

instruct the jurors on lawful use of force, actual danger and the duty to

9



retreat. 2 RP 375 -80. The court denied his request, instead instructing the

jury on the instruction for necessity used in justifiable homicide cases. Id. 

Mr. Rife was convicted of assault in the second degree and attempted

burglary in the first degree. 3 RP 481. At sentencing, he requested a

sentence from three to nine months, below the standard range. 7/ 17/ 2014

RP 11. In denying his request, the court stated he lacked the discretion to

impose a sentence below the standard range, stating sentencing " seems to

be a one -way street, and it' s always seemed to be a one way street." 

7/ 17/ 2014 RP 21 - 22. Without prior history, Mr. Rife was sentenced to 14

months for assault second degree and 1. 9. 5 months for the attempted

burglary second degree. 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 23. 

E. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT' S VIOLATION OF THE APPEARANCE

OF FAIRNESS DOCTRINE PREJUDICED MR. RIFE. 

a. The appearance offairness doctrine requires judges to
disqualify themselves when their impartiality may be
questioned. 

A fair tribunal is a basic tenant of due process. In re Murchison, 349

U. S. 133, 136 ( 1955); U. S. Const. amend. XIV. Due process requires not

only the absence of actual bias by the court, but also an appearance of

fairness. Id.; accord State v. Madry, 8 Wn. App. 61, 70, 504 P. 2d 1156

1972) ( " Next in importance to rendering a righteous judgment is that it be
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accomplished in such a manner that it will cause no reasonable

questioning of the fairness and impartiality of the judge. ") see also State v. 

Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 808, 975 P. 2d 967 ( 1999) ( Washington' s

appearance of fairness doctrine not only requires a judge to be impartial, it

also requires the judge appear to be impartial). 

Judges shall disqualify themselves in proceedings where their

impartiality might reasonably be questioned. CJC Canon 2. 11 accord

Diimmel v. Campbell, 68 Wn.2d 697, 699, 414 P. 2d 1022 ( 1966) ( " It is

incumbent upon members of the judiciary to avoid even a cause for

suspicion of irregularity in the discharge of their duties. "). A judge' s

obligation not to hear or decide matters applies regardless of whether a

motion to disqualify is filed. CJC Canon 2. 11, comment 2. 2 " The CJC

recognizes where a trial judge' s decisions are tainted by even a mere

suspicion of partiality, the effect on the public' s confidence in our judicial

system can be debilitating." Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 205, 905

P. 2d 355 ( 1995). Judges should disqualify themselves from proceedings in

which " a reasonably prudent and disinterested person" might question

their impartiality. State v. Carlson, 66 Wn. App 909, 918, 833 P. 2d 463

Washington has recognized where there is evidence of a judge' s or decision

maker' s actual or potential bias, the failure to comply with the judicial canon violates the
appearance of fairness doctrine. State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 619 n. 9, 826 P. 2d 599

1992). 
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1992). This doctrine prevents participation in the decision making process

by a judge who is potentially interested or biased. City ofHoquiam v. 

Public Employment Relations Comm' n of Wn., 97 Wn.2d 481, 488, 646

P. 2d 129 ( 1982) 

The standard for recusal is an objective test and not what a reasonable

judge might think. United State v. Jordan, 49 F. 3d 152, 156 -57 ( 5th Cir. 

1995) ( " an observer of our judicial system is less likely to credit judges' 

impartiality than the judiciary "); accord Sherman, 128 Wn.2d at 206. A

judicial proceeding satisfies the appearance of fairness doctrine only if a

reasonably prudent and disinterested person would conclude all parties

obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing. Tatham v. Rogers, 170 Wn. 

App. 76, 96, 283 P. 3d 583 ( 2012). " Fairness of course requires an absence

of actual bias in the trial of cases. But our system of law has always

endeavored to prevent even the probability of unfairness. " Madry, 8 Wn. 

App. at 68, 504 P. 2d 1156 ( 1972) ( quoting Murchison, 349 U. S. at 136). 

b. The court violated the appearance offairness doctrine by not
recusing itself after realizing it had a close relationship to Mr. 
Rife' s family. 

Very soon after being assigned this case, the court recognized it was

acquainted with the defendant' s family, specifically his mother and his

aunt and his grandparents, and have been for many years." 1 RP 17. The

court acknowledged it had not only conducted the marriage ceremony of

12



Mr. Rife' s parents, but had also " vacationed to Hawaii together, did things

together" with Mr. Rife' s grandparents." 1 RP 18. While the court told the

parties he had not been close with Mr. Rife' s family for 15 years and did

not know Mr. Rife personally, his relationship with them was still close

enough for the court to acknowledge " his aunt still cuts my hair, among

other things." 1 RP 19. Both parties consented to the court' s determination

it should not recuse itself. 1 RP 22. 

At sentencing, the court acknowledged the error it had made in not

recusing itself. The court stated: 

H] ad 1 any alternative other than to be the judge presiding over this
case, I would not have chosen to do it. I would have had one of the

other judges do it. Unfortunately, by the time that I realized just
exactly who this defendant was, none of the other judges were
available to do the trial, so I' m the one who ended up presiding over it. 
7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18. 

The appearance of fairness doctrine allows judges to avoid having to

determine whether they have actual bias and prevents them from acting on

biases they may not recognize. " People believe they are objective, see

themselves as more ethical and fair than others, and experience a ` bias

blind spot,' the tendency to see bias in others but not in themselves... . 

These tendencies make it difficult for judges to identify their own biases." 

Jennifer Robbennolt & Matthew Taksin, Can Judges Determine Their

Own Impartiality?, 41 Monitor on Psychol. 24, 24 ( 2010). Judicial
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perceptions of their own impartiality also suffer from the failure to

acknowledge the existence of unconscious motivations. Debra Lyn Bassett

Rex R. Perschbacher, The Elusive Goal ofImpartiality, 97 Iowa L. Rev. 

181 ( 2011); see generally Jeffrey J. Rachlinski, Heuristics and Biases in

the Courts: Ignorance or Adaptation ?, 79 Or. L. Rev. 61 ( 2000) ( noting

judges are susceptible to various biases). The existence of unconscious

motivations means honest and well- intentioned judges cannot necessarily

trust in their own subjective belief they are and will remain impartial. 

Bassett, 97 Iowa L. Rev. at 207. 

I] nstances of judicial preconception often are innocent in

intent. Most judges genuinely believe that, despite their
connections to a lawsuit, they can put aside their bias or
interest, and decide the suit justly. What this ignores, 
unfortunately, is that partiality is more likely to affect the
unconscious thought processes of a judge, with the result that

he or she has little conscious knowledge of being swayed by
improper influences. Furthermore, even if a judge were able to

put aside bias and self - interest in a particular case, the

appearance of impropriety remains, and is itself a serious
problem that casts disrepute upon the judiciary. 

Leslie W. Abramson, Appearance ofImpropriety: Deciding When a

Judge' s Impartiality " Might Reasonably Be Questioned," 14 Geo. J. Legal

Ethics 55, 70 ( 2000). 
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c. The violation ofMr. .Rife' s due process right to a fair and
impartial tribunal requires this Court to order a new trial. 

There are many ways this relationship may have manifested itself in

bias against Mr. Rife. The judge may have unconsciously been less likely

to rule in favor of Mr. Rife because it wanted to show its lack of bias

towards his family or because it felt it was helping the child of a family

friend learn a lesson. Certainly, this bias may have influenced the court

when it denied Mr. Rife' s motion to dismiss the attempted burglary

charge, his request for jury instructions and his request for a sentence

below the standard range. 

There is also no way to gauge the public' s perception of the impact of

this bias. The public cannot be confident the court' s rulings would have

been decided another way by a judge who did not have close ties to Mr. 

Rife' s family. By failing to recuse itself, the court abused its discretion

and unfairly prejudiced Mr. Rife. 

The fact no other judges were available to hear this trial when it was

assigned has no bearing on recusal. 1 RP 18. Inconvenience is not a

sufficient reason for a trial court to not recuse itself. See Collins v. Joshi, 

611 So.2d 898 ( Miss. 1992); Davis v. Neshoba County General HIosp., b 1 1

So.2d 904 ( Miss. 1992). This is especially true where no record was made

prior to trial regarding the availability of other judges to hear the case.

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