No. 46638-4-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

COLE RIFE,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

Respondent's Brief

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE THE APPEARNCE OF FAIRNESS DOCTRINE.

Rife asserts the trial court violated the appearance of fairness doctrine due to the trial judge's personal relationship with Rife's family. Brief of Appellant 12-16. Rife argues there are many ways the relationship the trial judge had with Rife's family may have manifested bias against him, and therefore this Court should order a new trial. The appearance of fairness doctrine was not violated and this Court should affirm Rife's convictions.

1. Standard Of Review.

The appearance of fairness doctrine, and whether a judge should be disqualified based upon if the judge's impartiality may reasonably be questioned, is an objective test. *In re Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. 812, 818, 244 P.3d 959 (2010). An appearance of fairness claim will not succeed without evidence of actual or potential bias because the claim would be without merit. *Id*.

2. Judge Brosey Did Not Violate The Appearance Of Fairness Doctrine.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial by an impartial judge. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. The law requires more than just impartiality, the law requires a judge to also appear

impartial. *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 187, 225 P.3d 973 (2010) (quotations and citations omitted). It is presumed that a judge acts without prejudice or bias. *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818. Judges are also required to disqualify themselves from a proceeding if the judge's impartiality may reasonably be questioned or they are biased against a party. CJC 2.11(A);⁴ *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818.

"The appearance of fairness doctrine is 'directed at the evil of a biased or potentially interested judge or quasi-judicial decision maker."" *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818, *citing State v. Post*, 118 Wn.2d 596, 618-19, 826 P.2d 172 (1992). Under the objective standard, "a judicial proceeding is valid only if a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would conclude that the parties received a fair, impartial and neutral hearing." *Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d at 187 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Allegedly improper or biased comments are considered in context. *See, e.g., Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d at 188; *In re Dependency of O.J.*, 88 Wn. App. 690, 697, 947 P.2d 252 (1997).

A defendant who has reason to believe a judge is biased and impartial must affirmatively act if they wish to pursue a claim for violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine. *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818. A

⁴ The State is citing to the current citation under the CJC that was in effect in 2011 when the plea was taken. Much of the case law and LaChance's briefing cite to former CJC 3(D)(1).

defendant cannot simply wait until he or she has an adverse ruling to move for disqualification of a judge if that defendant has reason to believe the

judge should be disqualified. Id.

The following exchange occurred prior to trial commencing:

THE COURT: All right. There's one other thing that I should say about this case before we proceed any further. I believe, if I'm not mistaken, that I am acquainted with the defendant's family, specifically his mother and his aunt and his grandparents, and have been for many years. It might even be, if I went back far enough, that I may very well have conducted the ceremony when his mother and father were married, if I'm not mistaken. So if that is a problem from the State or the defense -- this is going to be a jury trial, the jury's going to be making its decision. But if that's a problem, which would lead you to believe that I should not hear this or that you'd prefer I didn't hear this, then I will recuse and allow one of the other judges to hear it. That's something else you can talk with your client about.

MR. McCLAIN: I presume from the Court what you're telling us is you don't believe there's any conflict for yourself.

THE COURT: I don't because it's a jury trial. On the other hand, there's -- it's a relationship I want everyone to be aware of. We're not -- some years back his grandparents and my wife and I were very good friends, very close friends. Vacationed to Hawaii together, did things together. We haven't done that for probably -- it's probably been 15 years now. But his aunt still cuts my hair, among other things.

MR. McCLAIN: Does the Court know Mr. Rife then?

THE COURT: Except by name, no.

MR. McCLAIN: State has no issue, Judge.

MR. GROBERG: I don't think we have an issue, but I'll talk to Mr. Rife.

THE COURT: Go talk to him. Let me know when you're ready to go.

RP 18-19.

Judge Brosey was merely informing the parties of a past relationship he had with family members of Rife. He did not personally know Rife and had no personal relationship with Rife. Further, the relationship was aged, as it had been 15 years since Judge Brosey had been close with Rife's grandparents. RP 18. The fact that a person in Rife's family cut Judge Brosey's hair is inconsequential and does not create a personal bias or an appearance of fairness issue.

A judge is required to disqualify himself if his impartiality may be questioned if he has personal bias concerning a party. CJC 2.1(A)(1). Judge Brosey did not have personal bias concerning a party. Rife was the party, not his grandparent's. Judge Brosey did not know Rife. Rife is correct that the party's cannot waive an issue of personal bias pursuant to CJC 2.11(C). *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Jones*, 182 Wn.2d 17, 42, 338 P.3d 842 (2014). But Judge Brosey did not have personal bias against Rife, therefore, informing the parties that there was a past close relationship with family members of Rife and asking in an abundance of caution if either party wished to have the judge recuse was not improper under these circumstances. The fact that neither party saw an issue is further evidence that there was no personal relationship or bias. RP 18-21.

Without taking some action in the trial court, Rife cannot now claim, now that he has been convicted by a jury and sentenced (to the low end of the standard range on the higher of the two offenses nonetheless), that there is an appearance of fairness issue. *Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. at 818. There was no violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine and this Court should affirm Rife's convictions.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO AMEND THE INFORMATION TO INCLUDE THE ADDITIONAL CHARGE OF TAMPERING WITH A WITNESS.

Rife argues he was prejudiced by the late amendment to the information adding the charge of Tampering with a Witness. Rife asserts the amendment should have been prohibited because there was governmental mismanagement and asks this Court to reverse and remand for a new trial. Any claim of governmental mismanagement pursuant to a CrR 8.3 claim was not preserved below and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting the State's request to amend the information as there was no prejudice to Rife.

1. Any Claim Of Governmental Mismanagement Was Not Preserved Below And Cannot Be Raised For the First Time On Appeal.

The State's motion to amend the information was based on previously disclosed evidence, evidence that was cross-admissible and evidence that Rife had knowledge of prior to the motion being filed. RP 4-17; Supp. CP State's Memorandum. Rife's trial counsel solely challenged the amendment on CrR 2.1(d) grounds. RP 9-14. Rife's trial counsel did not prepare or argue a CrR 8.3(b) motion to the trial court. *See* RP; CP. This is necessarily because Rife's trial counsel understood that the trial court's ruling was correct.

An appellate court generally will not consider an issue that a party raises for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The origins of this rule come from the principle that it is the obligation of trial counsel to seek a remedy for errors as they arise. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 98. The exception to this rule is "when the claimed error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right." *Id., citing* RAP 2.5(a). There is a two part test in determining whether the assigned error may be raised for the first time on appeal, "an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension." *Id. (citations omitted)*. A claim of a

manifest constitutional error is reviewed de novo. *State v. Edwards*, 169 Wn. App. 561, 566, 280 P.3d 1152 (2012).

A claim of governmental mismanagement, which Rife now claims for the first time on appeal, is not a claim of constitutional magnitude. Rife attempts to argue that the trial court erred in accepting the amended information because the information was amended solely because the government mismanaged its case and therefore the late amendment was improper and prejudiced Rife. Brief of Appellant 16-25. Rife cannot raise a claim of governmental mismanagement for the first time on appeal and this Court should not entertain his invitation to do so.

2. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Allowed The State To Amend The Information To Include One Count Of Tampering With A Witness.

Pursuant to CrR 2.1(d) the court may permit the prosecutor to amend the information at any time before the verdict "if substantial rights of the defendant are not prejudiced." A trial court's decision to allow the State to amend the information is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Hockaday*, 114 Wn. App. 918, 924, 184 P.3d 1273 (2008). "A trial court abuses its discretion only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable reasons or grounds." *State v. C.J.*, 148 Wn.2d 672, 686, 63 P.3d 765 (2003), *citing State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). Rife seeks reversal and remand for a new trial, claiming he was prejudiced by the late amendment. Rife argues he was prejudiced because he allegedly had to spend a considerable amount of time defending against the Tampering with a Witness charge to avoid the additional sentencing range. Brief of Appellant 21. Rife also alleges he was not able to conduct an independent investigation of this "newly discovered evidence." *Id.* at 22. Rife further argues that the trial court's decision to not sever the witness tampering charge was manifestly unreasonable because the State would suffer no harm from the severance. *Id.* at 24.

"When reversal is sought because of late amendment, the burden is on the accused to demonstrate specific prejudice from the information amendment." *State v. Alvarado*, 73 Wn. App. 874, 877, 871 P.2d 663 (1994). The Washington Courts have rejected defendant's arguments claiming amendments of an information prejudiced them without the defendant providing specific evidence to support the claim of prejudice. *State v. Murbach*, 68 Wn. App. 509, 511, 843 P.2d 551 (1993) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

The only arguments Rife's trial counsel made to the trial court was, (1) he was unaware of the tampering allegation, (2) Rife was unable to evaluate the entire case and determine if he wants to take a plea deal or go to trial with a late amendment, (3) the additional charge changed the amount of points Rife was looking at, (4) it was different charges and different ranges. RP 9-14.

In regards to the first argument, the trial court pointed out that Rife's counsel knew the State alleged Rife had called Logan and at the very least apologized to Logan regarding the incident, because that was outlined in the probable cause statement. RP 9-10. Further, in preparation for trial, one would expect trial counsel would have spoken to the victim prior to trial and would have found out he was alleging Rife asked him not to speak to the police and offered to pay for his medical bills in addition to apologizing.

The second argument Rife's trial counsel made also fails because there is no constitutional right to a plea bargain and the right or lack thereof does not factor into whether his client would be prejudiced by the late amendment. *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 655-56, 71 P.3d 368 (2003). The additional charges and concerns about sentencing ranges also does not factor into a fairness of the anticipated trial and prejudice analysis. *Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d at 646, *State v. Rohrich*, 110 Wn. App. 832, 839, 43 P.3d 32 (2002).

The trial court, in evaluating the arguments made by Rife's trial counsel in opposition to the amendment, did not abuse its discretion when it granted the State's request to amend the information to include the Tampering with a Witness count. The decision was not manifestly unreasonable. Rife's trial counsel could not articulate any prejudice. There was no reason to sever the count, and once the trial court granted the State's motion, Rife's trial counsel did not renew his motion to sever. RP 17-22. Further, Rife was acquitted of the Tampering with a Witness Charge. CP 68. This Court should find the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it allowed the late amendment of the information and affirm Rife's convictions.

C. RIFE'S RIGHT TO BE PRESENT WAS NOT VIOLATED DURING THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS.

Rife argues to this Court that his right to be present was violated because the record is void of any mention of his presence during the peremptory challenges. Brief of Appellant 25-27. While the transcript is silent as to what occurred during the peremptory challenges, the Clerk's minutes coupled with the transcript make it clear that Rife was present.

1. Standard Of Review.

Whether a defendant's constitutional right to be present has been violated is reviewed de novo. *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880, 246 P.3d 796 (2011).

2. Rife Was Present In The Courtroom During The Peremptory Challenges.

A defendant in a criminal action has a fundamental right to be present at all critical stages of his or her trial. *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 880, citing *Rushen v. Spain*, 464 U.S. 114, 117, 104 S. Ct. 453, 78 L. Ed.2d 267 (1983). This right is not only rooted in the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment but also in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* at 880-81, citing *United States v. Gagnon*, 470 U.S. 522, 526, 105 S. Ct. 1482, 84 L. Ed.2d 486 (1985) (internal quotations omitted). Therefore, "a defendant has a right to be present at a proceeding whenever his presence has a relation, reasonable substantial, to the fullness of his opportunity to defend against the charge." *Id.* at 881 (internal quotation and citation omitted). The right to be present extends to the voir dire and jury selection process. *Id.* at 883-84.

Rife was present during the voir dire process and was introduced by the trial court to prospective jurors at 10:35 a.m. VRP 2; CP 82. Both sides conducted voir dire and, at 11:31 a.m., Rife's trial counsel, Mr. Groberg, concluded his portion of voir dire. VRP 49; CP 82. Peremptory challenges were then done by a strike sheet, where each side lined out with a marker their peremptory challenges. CP 82-83, 96-99. The process for striking peremptory challenges took approximately 13 minutes. CP 82-83. The trial court then announced which jurors were seated. VRP 50; CP 83. While the State acknowledges the transcript does not state explicitly that Rife was sitting there in the courtroom the entire time while the peremptory challenges were taking place at the sidebar conference, the Clerk's minutes do not reflect that any break took place or that any activity happened outside of the courtroom.⁵ VRP 49-53; RP 39; CP 81-83. Rife was present during the entire voir dire and jury selection process and therefore his right to be present was not violated and this Court should affirm his conviction.

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE RIFE'S PUBLIC TRIAL RIGHT WHEN IT HEARD PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN A SIDEBAR CONVERENCE.

Rife argues to this Court that his right to a public trial was violated when the trial court heard peremptory challenges at a sidebar conference. Brief of Appellant 27-30. Sidebar conferences for peremptory challenges do not violate the public trial right and therefore Rife's public trial right was not violated.

1. Standard Of Review.

Purely legal claims are reviewed under a de novo standard of review. *State v. Love*, Supreme Court Case No. 896619-4, Slip Op. July 16, 2015, page 5.

⁵ The State filed two motions in an attempt to supplement the record below with an affidavit to fill in the gap in the transcript with what was occurring in the courtroom during the peremptory challenges but the Commissioner denied the State's motions.

2. Rife's Public Trial Right Was Not Violated By The Sidebar Conference Held For The Peremptory Challenge Of Jurors.

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